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VISION

The Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN or ‘the 
Network’) is the national association for retail players 
in the microfinance industry and is registered under 
Section 42 of the Companies Ordinance. The Network’s 
strength currently includes 46 retail microfinance 
providers [MFPs] that collectively account for over 
99% of the total microfinance outreach in Pakistan. 
As a sector representative, PMN works intimately 

with a variety of  stakeholders to support provision 
of financial services to the under-served segments 
of the country. The overarching purpose of the 
Network is to support  retail microfinance providers 
by strengthening them institutionally, and work 
towards ensuring an enabling environment  for the 
microfinance sector in the country. 

Frontiers of Formal Financial Services reach out to all.

ABOUT PMN
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The following values are key to PMN’s culture. They are reflected in the work we do, how we treat each other, 
and how we represent ourselves:

CORE VALUES
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2017  was a good year for PMN – full of change and 
progress. We welcomed new staff and new Board 
members and have been building partnerships that will 
have a lasting and positive impact for our industry.

We’re proud to be working with a wide range of 
dedicated caring individuals and organizations. From 
our donors like DFID, PPAF, World Bank and IFC to the 
industry regulators (SBP and SECP), there’s a genuine 
grounds well and focus on creating a financial inclusion 
ecosystem that can bring an end to poverty for this 
country.

During the year, the Network focused on laying the 
foundation for strengthened and reinforced industry 
infrastructures through the establishment of digital 
payment ecosystem, disaster  risk fund and credit bureau.

The  sector  now  operates  under  a  regulated   environment 
for both the microfinance banks as well as the 
microfinance institutions which will enable improved 
governance and support in achieving sustainable 
growth. 

These interventions have resulted in the appetite of the 
industry to grow and also increase the confidence of 
international investors who injected millions of dollars 
through multiple deals during the year. 

Speaking on the social responsibility front, the sector 
now has a total of three SMART certified institutions and 
another two industry players are in the process of being 
certified. Demonstrating commitment towards social 
performance and to achieve the double bottom line 
objectives of microfinance industry, seven practitioners 

have undergone the process of social audit assessment.
From the governance point of view, the newly 
elected Board now has a one third representation by 
independent directors with the expertise in the areas 
of digital finance, payments ecosystem, insurance, 
research and social entrepreneurship. We are indeed 
fortunate to benefit from such dedicated group of 
professionals who make up our Board of Directors. The 
Board continues to mentor and provide guidance to the 
management to always do better and push our shared 
ambitions to greater heights.

The Network also crossed a PKR 200 million mark of 
unrestricted funds at the year end.  With clear directions 
of achieving self-sustainable status by 2020, the 
Network is working on multiple options to diversify its 
revenue streams.  With the creation of new functions 
of procurement, compliance and HR, more depth has 
been added into the management which will ensure 
that the internal control environment is stronger and 
management is all geared up for handling greater tasks 
in the coming years.

To conclude, I strongly believe that our success lies in 
the microfinance  industry’s success.  With the ongoing 
support of our donors like DFID, partners like PMIC 
regulators and Board members, PMN is ready for the 
challenges and achievements ahead in 2018.

Lastly, I would like to recognize their support and 
extend my sincere thanks to the management for their 
commitment, energy and irrepressible drive to work 
tirelessly to deliver and exceed our expectations year 
on year.

Syed Nadeem Hussain
Chairperson Board of Directors
Pakistan Microfinance Network
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2017  has  been a remarkable year for PMN – we 
sharpened our focus on creating revenue generating 
models like investment in a regulated credit information 
bureau; creating a Centre of Excellence (CoE) for the 
mid-level managers; setting up a digital services 
platform to provide an opportunity to the microfinance 
providers leverage the digital financial distribution 
channels; as well as creating a disaster risk fund to 
ensure the portfolios of the MFPs in disaster-prone 
areas. We are living in a time of continuous change and 
disruption in microfinance and financial inclusion and 
we are trying our level best to be above the curve as an 
institution.

The non-banking financial microfinance industry 
went through a major transformation of sorts by 
being regulated through the Securities and Exchange 
Commission of Pakistan (SECP). This transformation  was 
not an easy task as many institutions had to create new 
companies and adhere to certain guidelines where PMN 
has played its due role by providing capacity building 
opportunities. Our team has been engaged to enrich 
our service delivery model while working to enhance as 
our transformation journey continues. 

As the CEO of the company, I spend a lot of time looking 
at numbers. I understand the importance of what 
numbers tell the world.  I also recognize that our numbers 
tell a story about growth the sector has shown over 
the years and how innovative approaches are bringing 
value to strengthening sustainability of institutions. I 
am delighted to report that the microfinance industry 
is now well-recognized by donors, investors, policy 
makers and regulators as one key pillars to provide 
convenient and accessible financial services to the 
underserved and low-income households. For this 
our members should be heralded for their resilience 

and steadfastness in somewhat unstable political and 
economic environment. 

Just to give you a glimpse, the industry has witnessed 
some outstanding results by reaching to 5.8 million 
active borrowers with a gross loan portfolio of PKR 202 
billion, savings have increased by 15%, from PKR 162.6 
billion to PKR 186.9 billion by the end of the calendar 
year with 30.9 million active savers. The number of 
insurance policy holders crossed the 7 million mark and 
reached 7.3 million. This has been done while adhering 
to the principles of client protection and responsible 
finance where 3 institutions have been SMART certified 
and 7 have completed their social audits. 

Looking ahead, the financial services industry will be 
further shaped by innovation and sustainable growth. 
However, with the excessive use of technological 
tools we must be prepared to minimize our risks. We 
will leverage our standing and credibility as an active 
association to create even more value for our members 
and work on initiatives that have a long-term positive 
impact on the sustained growth of the industry. We will 
also maintain a strong risk mitigation culture and focus 
on operational excellence.

We believe our success is our members’ success. With 
the ongoing support of our donors such as UKAID’s 
DFID, partners like PMIC, Board and strategic alliances, 
PMN is ready to achieve more in the face of challenges 
ahead in 2018. In the end, I would like to thank my team 
that has worked tirelessly to keep PMN as one of the 
top Microfinance associations in the world. Without 
the support of all the stakeholders these achievements 
would not have been possible. 

Esteemed stakeholders,

Syed Mohsin Ahmed
Chief Executive Officer
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•     PMN facilitated twenty-five (25) non-banking  
microfinance institutions (NBMFIs) in the process of major  
transformation to be regulated through the Securities and 
Exchange Commission of Pakistan (SECP). 

•     PMN was commissioned to carry out some  
administrative activities for the NFIS technical committee 

in the form of working with independent consultants to 
develop ToRs for the approved projects.

•     PMN has remained actively involved in the advocacy  
of wholesale lending for agricultural financing.

•     PMN CEOis a member of the Agricultural Credit 
Advisory Committee (ACAC) & Agriculture Credit 

Committee (ACC).

•     PMN successfully organized an International  
Conference on Growth & Innovation in Microfinance 
inaugurated by Dr. Miftah Ismail, Special Assistant to 
the Prime Minister on Investment.

•     PMN facilitated the process of  
clean-line financing to Soon Valley  

Development Programme (SVDP) by a local  
development financial institution (DFI).

•     CSC Empowerment & Inclusion Programme received 
an investment worth $1.5 million from an International 
Investor.

•     The Center of Excellence (CoE) business plan has 
been finalized and PMN is actively working to secure 
grants or investment for the project. 

•     PMN conducted a session about the Microfinance  
sector at the European Microfinance Week 2017 where 

sector leaders participated in a panel discussion. 

On the following pages, we have highlighted our activities for fiscal year 2017.  
This icon system demonstrates how each activity delivers against  our three primary objectives.

Information 
Hub

Capacity 
Building

Enabling 
Environment

Page XII



On the following pages, we have highlighted our activities for fiscal year 2017.  
This icon system demonstrates how each activity delivers against  our three primary objectives.

Page XIIIPakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2017



Page 1Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2017

01
PROGRESS UPDATE
PMN create enormous value for its members and 
for their staff. As our members move through their 
careers, PMN helps them continually build their skills 
and knowledge, stay connected topers and experts, 
and navigate changes in their business environments. 
This year, PMN has been investing in enhanced service 
to members across the board. Some concrete signs of 
our progress are already in place  for instance, we have 
initiated the Centre of Excellence (CoE) for Microfinance 
Providers and our Digital Services Platform  but these 
developments are just part of an overall program of 
upgrading and renewal that will continue to improve 
member experience and deliver tangible benefits in 
the years ahead.
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In 2016, PMN was commissioned by Levi’s Strauss 
Foundation for carrying out a financial literacy project 
at the Foundation’s Pakistan based garment factories. 
The objective of the project was to enhance financial 
literacy and inclusion among the factory workers 
of Levi’s Strauss partners, by devising a training 
strategy that relies heavily on hands-on learning and 
interactive exercises, and ultimately encouraging 

the  target audience to become more financially 
responsible as well as integrated into the formal 
finance stream. 2017 marked the completion of the said 
project, with development of financial literacy modules 
for the workers and training of 81 master trainers 
across 4 factories in Lahore, Karachi and Hafizabad. The 
trained MTs will now be rolling out the financial literacy 
modules among the workers on a mass level in 2018.

FINANCIAL LITERACY (LEVI’S STRAUSS)

GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL MECHANISM (GRM) 

PMN in collaboration with the Smart Campaign, 
developed a progressive GRM framework to establish 
minimum standards of good practice for its member 
MFPs, keeping in view their scale and scope of 
operations. The project was undertaken realizing the 
need for standardization in GRM domain as there 
remains a great deal of variation in the GRM 
processes employed by the MFPs.  Since PMN’s 
partners encompass wide variety of players from 
very small institutions to large banks, PMN is keen on 
supporting the microfinance industry in helping 
them improve their practices around Grievance 

Redressal.  Based on the GRM framework thus 
developed, PMN conducted a mapping study to gauge 
the current state of practice among MFPs vis-à-vis GRM.  

PMN also conducted an exposure visit for major 
industry stakeholders to South Africa to learn from 
various third-party platforms in place there. The 
delegation met with a variety of players in the 
financial industry including the regulators, consumer 
court representatives and South African Microfinance 
Network.

MICROFINANCE CREDIT INFORMATION BUREAU (MF-CIB)

MF-CIB is a key part of the microfinance industry 
infrastructure. The bureau aims to curtail the practice 
of multiple borrowing leading to over-indebtedness, 
moral hazard and adverse selection in the sector. Since 
its nationwide roll-out in 2012, the bureau is now an 
inseparable part of the ecosystem with most of the 
members reporting data and making enquiries to 

some extent.  There has been a significant increase in 
enquiries generated last year as compared to previous 
year with maximum number of inquiries being 
generated per month (refer to Exhibit 1) but recently 
the enquiry generation is experiencing a declining 
trend due to non-reporting of MFBs.  

Enabling Environment

Enabling Environment
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Exhibit 1: MoM Comparison of MFCIB Enquiries

The bureau currently holds over 24 million records 
and a credit scoring model has been developed based 
on the data sourced from it. Credit scoring will assist 

lenders in loan application by reducing the time 
associated with the applications’ risk assessment 
process.

Enabling Environment

ASSESSING TRAINING NEEDS & SKILL DEVELOPMENT OF  
MICROFINANCE SECTOR
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RESEARCH AND PUBLICATIONS

ASSESSING TRAINING NEEDS & SKILL DEVELOPMENT OF  
MICROFINANCE SECTOR

Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN) commissioned 
Abacus Consulting (Abacus) to undertake Training 
Need Analysis of the microfinance sector. PMN is in the 
process of establishing a Centre of Excellence (CoE) for 
trainings and capacity building for microfinance sector. 

To that end, the aim of this report was to document 
deficiencies in the training frameworks employed by 
microfinance organizations as well as identify gaps 
across technical and functional competencies required 
for middle managers to perform their roles effectively. 

To ensure that our work is grounded in solid evidence 
about members’ needs and wants, we conducted an 
extensive course of research and other publications 
this year. The studies included a variety of topics 
identified by our members and the findings have been 

shared across our membership, donors and strategic 
alliances. These insights will drive our work to enhance 
member experience  and  create  added  value  next 
year and beyond.

For this purpose, three different methodologies to collect data were employed:  

1.     Interviews with the key informants.
2.     Focus Group Discussions (FGDs) with members organizations.
3.     Questionnaire.  

The key deficiencies in training and development highlighted in the Report include the following 
factors:  

1.     Middle managers lack clear visibility on career progression opportunities within the organization and the  
        pay scales are very low due to which MFPs find it difficult to retain employees.
2.     Performance appraisal systems are not linked with learning and development initiatives.
3.     Lack of proper training infrastructure, and 
4.     Currently, organizations find it difficult to provide specific soft skills trainings due to limited training  
        budgets.

Information Hub
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The annual state of the sector report for the year 2016 
was published by PMN wherein the industry achieved 
a major milestone of gross loan portfolio crossing the 
PKR 100 billion mark. Overall, the industry continued its 
uptrend and posted a double-digit growth under all the 
key indicators including credit, deposits, and insurance. 

A favorable macroeconomic environment and 
economic stability played a catalytic role in the growth 
witnessed by the industry over the last one year. 
Positive economic indicators like lower inflation, falling 
interest rates, and uptake on private credit supported 
this growth impetus and provided sustainability.  
As a follow up to the launch of the National Financial 

Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) and the introduction of 
regulatory framework for Non-Bank Microfinance 
Institutes, year 2016 witnessed initiatives towards 
promotion of access to finance and transition of 
Microfinance Institutes and Rural Support Programs 
to Non-Bank Microfinance Institutes. Among major 
developments last year saw further growth in 
branchless banking with m-Wallets transactions picking 
up as compared to over the counter transactions. The 
sector also managed to successfully tap international 
market to fulfill its funding requirements. On the 
responsible finance side, setting up client grievance 
redressal mechanism was a feather in the cap.

DIGITIZING MICROFINANCE THE NEXT FRONTIER

In 2015, Pakistan launched its National Financial 
Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) to help the country achieve its 
financial inclusion goals. Pakistan’s goal is to achieve 
universal financial access, with a headline NFIS target 
of expanding formal financial access to at least 50% of 
adults, including women and youth, and to increase 
the percentage of SME loans in bank lending to 15% 
by 2020. Pakistan Microfinance Network has embarked 
on the journey to realize the goals envisioned in 
NFIS by laying the technological foundation. The 
Digital Services Platform envisages offering digital 

services in a shared hosting environment which will 
enable MFPs to optimize their business operations 
and reduce operating costs. The platform will host 
various financial tools and solutions including 
workflow-based product modules, middleware, 
integrated services, core banking and general 
ledger solutions, MIS and data analytics. End-to-end 
digitalization of microfinance operations will provide 
the impetus to outreach expansion, optimal cost of 
operation, and enhanced efficiency and productivity.

Full Publication:  
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/ae8b6344b1b61cc705c5734f69f9ad0a.pdf

PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE REVIEW (PMR) 2016

Information Hub

Information Hub

Full Publication:  
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/8b8967865bebdc88418e0f5034005342.pdf

CONCEPTUALIZING HEALTH AND MICROFINANCE NEXUS IN PAKISTAN

GOING GREEN: GLOBAL TRENDS AND CURRENT STATE OF PRACTICE  
IN PURSUING TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE IN PAKISTAN

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE COUNTRY REPORT 2017 
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DIGITIZING MICROFINANCE THE NEXT FRONTIER

CONCEPTUALIZING HEALTH AND MICROFINANCE NEXUS IN PAKISTAN

This study looked at sector-led approach for health 
financing through microfinance- whether microfinance 
sector is currently positioned to serve the needs of 
the sector, drawing out relevant research to outline 
potential partnerships. Role of various stakeholders 

like regulator, microfinance providers, health and 
insurance providers, government entities were 
explored. Considering the issue of last mile access and 
quality of health services, feasibility of social franchise 
model for health was also looked into.

Full Publication:  
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/69106cec5d4f0132b45673990ab4622d.pdf

GOING GREEN: GLOBAL TRENDS AND CURRENT STATE OF PRACTICE  
IN PURSUING TRIPLE BOTTOM LINE IN PAKISTAN

In recent years, microfinance sector in Pakistan has 
seen the momentum being built towards achieving the 
double bottom line i.e. weaving social performance 
management in mainstream operations in addition to 
financial management. Several MFPs have made efforts 
to build their internal capacity to define and monitor 
and strengthen their social functions. As the industry 
matures and journey towards social performance 
management is covered in leaps and bounds, the next 
frontier to which practitioners and other stakeholders 
should turn their attention, is the third bottom line, i.e. 
environmental management. Given the devastating 
effects of climate change seen at a global scale 

and increased focus on sustainability in the post-
2015 developmental agenda, it is imperative for the 
microfinance sector to make a concentrated effort in 
going green. This MicroNote took a closer look at green 
microfinance developments globally, mapping current 
state of practice in Pakistan. More specifically, it aimed 
to establish the need for microfinance to go green. 
The study analyzed the characteristics of microfinance 
providers with robust environmental ethos in an 
attempt to see what propels some institutions to go 
green while others don’t.

Full Publication:   
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/ea22bbebcfc9c2821afc8f1be8b732ec.pdf

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE COUNTRY REPORT 2017 

Based on self-reported SPI4 data, this report detailed 
the state of SPM practice among Pakistan Microfinance 
Network members in key operational and strategic 
areas, discussing both successes and challenges alike. 
Microfinance industry witnessed continued growth 

and expansion in year 2015-2016. There were notable 
developments in policy environment which will lead 
to stronger players and the sector can play a crucial 
role in furthering financial inclusion in the country.

Information Hub

Information Hub
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Accomplishments 

•     On the policy front, the launch of National Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) and introduction of  
      regulatory framework for Non-Bank Microfinance Institutions (NB-MFIs) were the major developments. 
 
•     Microfinance Credit Information Bureau (MF-CIB) became an essential component of credit approval  
       process by practitioners, mitigating the risk of over-indebtedness. 
 
•     Department for International Development (DFID), Pakistan Poverty Alleviation Fund and Karandaaz  
       Pakistan joined hands with the Germen Development Bank KfW to create Pakistan Microfinance Invest 
       ment Company (PMIC). PMIC will help the sector in meeting its funding appetite.

Full Publication:   
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/75a3eb2752d243e0f15570ec3aeac702.pdf

CLIENTS PERCEPTIONS OF CONVENTIONAL AND NONCONVENTIONAL  
FORMS OF MICROFINANCE IN PAKISTAN

A Study was conducted to help understand client 
perceptions regarding conventional and non-
conventional (interest free and Islamic) forms of 
microfinance with the aim of increasing access to 
financial services in the country by offering diversified, 
especially Shariah-complaint, products. 

The main finding of the study was that charging of 
interest was not seen as an important issue by clients 
of ‘conventional’ products, as they mostly take it to 
be the ‘cost of service’. Concerns about payment of 
‘interest’ being religiously forbidden were mostly aired 

by clients of non-conventional products who were 
from a relatively lower socio-economic background 
compared to clients of normal/ conventional micro-
credit products. The demand for this segment may be 
met by having targeted programs.

In terms of improvements in product design, the 
clients of both conventional and non-conventional 
products felt that the loan size as well as duration 
needs to be increased to better cater to their financing 
requirements.

Full Publication:   
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/4f78a7723e8336e8d36b470877f50b0f.pdf

Information Hub

Information Hub

TARGETED INTERVENTIONS IN THE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SECTOR 

INDUSTRY SALARY SURVEY
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CLIENTS PERCEPTIONS OF CONVENTIONAL AND NONCONVENTIONAL  
FORMS OF MICROFINANCE IN PAKISTAN

TARGETED INTERVENTIONS IN THE PUBLIC AND PRIVATE SECTOR 

Governments around the world use social protection 
programs to achieve various welfare objectives. Such 
programs are built off of policies that are applied to a 
wide range of contexts ranging from food stamps to 
aid for disaster rehabilitation. These programs have 
a broad objective of protecting vulnerable segments 

from livelihood risks and maintaining their standard 
of living to enable them to participate as engaged 
and productive citizens in society. This model offers 
a compelling case demonstrating the need for 
harmonizing programs to track beneficiaries and offer 
them social and economic mobility.

Full Publication:   
http://www.pmn.org.pk/assets/articles/c9d26b8f9300c2b559d6fc746ce8bd74.pdf

INDUSTRY SALARY SURVEY

Compensation and Benefits (C&B) system plays a 
key role in the total human resource management 
function. Compensation given should not only 
be commensurate with the effort being put by 
the employee but should also seem to be fair and 
adequate. Hence, considering the need of the industry, 

PMN managed to conduct an industry level salary 
survey through HRS Global to evaluate Microfinance 
providers’ current market standing. In the survey 
Nineteen (19) organizations including Eight (8) MFBs 
and Eleven (11) MFIs which are as follows:

Sr.no Microfinance Banks (MFBs) Microfinance Institutes (MFIs)

1 ADVANS Pakistan AL-Mehran Rural Development  
Organization (AMRDO)

2 FINCA Microfinance Bank Ltd CSC Empowerment & Inclusion  
Programme (CEIP)

3 Khushhali Microfinance Bank (KBL) Damen

4 Mobilink (MMFB) FFO Microfinance Company

5 Pak Oman Microfinance Bank Limited 
(POMFB)

JWS Pakistan

6 Telenor Microfinance Bank Kashf Foundation

7 The First MicroFinance Bank Ltd 
(FMFB)

National Rural Support Programme 
(NRSP)

8 U Microfinance Bank Rural Community Development  
Programmes (RCDP)

9 ------ Saath Development Society

10 ------ SAFCO Support Foundation

11 ------ Shadab Rural Development  
Organization (SRDO)

Information Hub
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PMN has been successful to execute this productive 
exercise where each participating organization 
received customized report of the Survey results. 
Moreover, PMN was also provided by two industry 
level analysis reports containing findings of an 
employee salary survey of MFBs and MFIs. The survey 
presents a comparative analysis of remuneration levels 
for comparable jobs and job levels. It also presents a 
documentation of prevailing policies with respect to 
various employee benefits. Survey recipients tuned in 
to the changing scenario of employee remuneration 
will be able to discern the emerging trends in this area. 
The survey has been carried out during the months 
of September – December 2017 and covers the actual 
remuneration levels to identified benchmark jobs in 
surveyed companies during this period. The market 
remuneration data for each of the remuneration 
component in the report is given in form of percentile 
levels to maintain confidentiality of participants. 
It has been conducted from the perspective of 
‘cost to employer’. Methodologies employed to 
convert certain non-cash benefits to equivalent 
cash value are given in the annexure to the report. 

The key  findings of the survey provided by HRSG showed 
that there may be unemployment, but the jobs in MFIs 
were less attractive to many job aspirants and this was 
also reflecting on the supply side of the employment 
situation. Cost of living in some geography, especially 

urban centers is so high that it is affecting the MFI’s 
ability to pay adequate remuneration.  Psychological 
and social factors also influence the salary structure 
in MFIs. Statutory requirements governing the 
salary, benefits and salary administration are also 
determinants in structuring and disbursal of salary and 
benefits to the employees. HRSG came across cases/
incidents where the MFIs are struggling with grievances 
of anomalies in salary fixation. It is observed that the 
staff compares a designation of a Field/Operation 
staff with the designation of HO Staff, whose salary 
is higher than the salary of the Field/Operation staff.  

MFBs on the other hand pay better than MFIs 
but remuneration is low when compared to the 
Commercial Banks. The remuneration in MFBs mostly 
comprises cash salary given under the heads of 
basic salary House Rent, utilities allowance, other 
allowance (making upto 74% of the Total package 
at 50th Percentile while 67% of the Total package at 
75th Percentile). The companies additionally provide 
certain benefits in the form of, fixed bonus, car for 
senior grades, Medical OPD allowance, hospitalization 
and retirement (Mostly Provident Fund & Gratuity).  

 The C&B in the microfinance industry is recommended 
by HRSG to be scientifically structured also compensated 
and benchmarked with other related industries 
like banking, insurance, asset management, FMCG.

Following are the brief recommendations provided by the survey firm based on the analysis; 

1.     To make sure reward is aligned with the strategy and culture.  
 
2.     Promote a total reward approach that makes the best use of intangible components and help employees to  
        understand that the reward offer consists of more than money.  
 
3.     Engage line managers in implementing reward programs. It is more effective and complements their role in  
        planning, coaching and assessing employee performance.  
 
4.     Communicate reward policies effectively.   
 
5.     Focus on execution, superior design is not enough.   
 
6.     Link reward tightly to performance.

Information Hub

ALL MEMBERS AND LAUNCH EVENT OF PMR 2016 

ORIENTATION SESSION ON ONLINE REPORTING WITH SECP 
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CAPACITY BUILDING INITIATIVES

ALL MEMBERS AND LAUNCH EVENT OF PMR 2016 

The Pakistan Microfinance Network held a half-day 
launch event of PMR 2016 and an All Members Meeting 
in second half of the day on 28th August 2017 in 
Marriott Hotel, Karachi. The event commenced with the 
discussion of the key areas in the PMR 2016 – an annual 
state of the Microfinance sector report.  After which a 
panel discussion was held where the panellist shared 
their views about the current Microfinance landscape, 
industry’s performance, challenges & opportunities as 
well as various risks faced by Microfinance practitioners. 
The event was attended by policy makers, regulators, 

donors, microfinance providers, & commercial banks. 

The All Members Meeting was attend by attended by 30 
– 35 member organization. A discussion was done on 
Digital Service Platform and Credit Information Bureau. 
The PMN management provided details introduce the 
DSP project specially highlighting project dashboard, 
member engagement process and next step. The latest 
status   to   date on MF-CIB was discussed during the 
meeting.

ORIENTATION SESSION ON ONLINE REPORTING WITH SECP 

Subsequent to the transformation into regulated 
entities, SECP held two session orientation session 
on online regulatory reporting. PMN assisted SECP is 
organizing the sessions. Session were held in Lahore 
and Karachi for the newly licensed NBMFIs and were 

attended by relevant staff of these organizations. 
The SECP staff gave an overview of the reporting 
mechanism and answered various queries from the 
participants. These sessions were attended by 50 
participants in total.

The microfinance industry in Pakistan has massive 
potential to achieve greater scale, and to tap that 
potential, the capacity of retail institutions needs to be 
enhanced through capacity building. PMN uses several 

tools to achieve this goal such as events, trainings 
(local and international), and exposure and exchange 
visits (local and international).

Capacity Building

Capacity Building
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ROUNDTABLE ON CAPITALIZATION

PMN conducted a roundtable for capitalization for its 
smaller members. The session was conducted by CEO 
PMN who was assisted by Financial Analyst. Many of 
the smaller MFIs are finding it difficult to meeting the 
minimum capital requirements set by the regulator. 
In the session, these entities were told how to raise 
the required capital and various sources which can be 
approached for this. In addition, they were told that 

this would require entities to improve the governance 
standards and transform their legal structure into for-
profit entities. The objective of this paper is to analyze 
select social protection and loan-related employment 
generation programs that are geared to improve social 
welfare and economic outcomes of low and middle-
income households. This session was attended by 30 
participants.

INTERNATIONAL DAY FOR ERADICATION OF POVERTY 

World poverty day is observed every year on 17 
October. Poverty is increasing due to low GDP and 
inequality especially in Pakistan. It is the responsibility 
of the state to eradicate poverty. As long as the 
country will not be free of poverty, it cannot be fully 
functioned on the way to progress. Women’s strength 
is very important. Due to poverty many families are not 
getting basic needs of life. The PMFN in collaboration 
with and PMN organized an event to observe the 
poverty day in Lahore. The event was attended by 200 
plus individuals and had speakers representative from 
MFP, regulators, policy makers, etc. PMFN is a regional 
microfinance network working since 2004 to enhance 
financial inclusion among low-income population 

in Punjab. There are 11 member organizations of the 
network and has approx. 250,000 active clients in 
livestock, trade, agriculture, services, manufacturing 
and other occupations. The event was organized to 
promote awareness among people regarding poverty 
eradication and destitution worldwide especially in 
countries like Pakistan where every 4 out of 10 people 
facing multi-dimensional poverty and about 60 million 
people live below poverty line. The objective to 
organize the event was to honor the victims of poverty, 
hunger & violence and to discuss the importance 
of microfinance  industry  in poverty eradication in 
Pakistan.

Capacity Building

Capacity Building

INNOVATION & GROWTH CONFERENCE 
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ROUNDTABLE ON CAPITALIZATION

INTERNATIONAL DAY FOR ERADICATION OF POVERTY 

INNOVATION & GROWTH CONFERENCE 

The Micro Finance Innovation and Growth Conference 
was held at Serena Hotel on December 4th and 5th, 
2017 where, Dr. Miftah Ismail, Special Assistant to the 
Prime Minister on Investment inaugurated the two-day 
Microfinance Conference on Innovation and Growth, 
with leaders of the sector in attendance.

The conference was jointly hosted by Pakistan 
Microfinance Investment Company (PMIC) and 
Pakistan Microfinance Network (PMN), where industry 
stakeholders came together to share experiences, 
engaged in dialogue on the latest developments 
globally and locally and formulated directions for the 
future of microfinance in Pakistan.

The primary objective of this event is to provide a 
platform to all stakeholders such as Microfinance 
Providers, other financial service providers involved in 
financial inclusion (like banks, Digital Financial Service 
providers, Fintechs, insurance companies), donor 
agencies, policy makers, regulators, development 
agencies and Government authorities and discuss the 
ways in which the digitization of microfinance can be 
significantly increased.

Another purpose of this event is to initiate a dialogue 
for concerted efforts among all relevant stakeholders, 
to identify the possible bottlenecks that exist in the 
industry that can possibly hinder the digitization 
process and how they can be overcome.

Dr. Rashid Bajwa, CEO NRSP gave an overview of the 
microfinance industry in Pakistan. He stated that today 
the sector has 5.2 million active borrowers which is 
a tremendous progress considering the tumultuous 
journey that had ensued. He also mentioned that 
establishment of PPAF and SBP’s guarantee scheme 
were the two major events, which propelled the 
sector onto the growth trajectory and now with 
PMIC, the advancements technology, the sector is 
geared for the next phase of growth and to achieve 
a target of reaching out to 10 million clients by 2020. 
 
Mr. Zubyr Soomro, Chairperson PMIC, said that although 

funding appetite of the sector is being addressed 
through institutions like PMIC, there is still a long 
way to go. He addressed that one of the frontiers that 
the stakeholders  now  need  to be attentive towards 
is product diversification and value addition. Syed 
Nadeem Hussain, Chairperson PMN expressed that 
despite good progress, microfinance industry needs 
to tap into the innovative solutions brought forth by 
technological advancements.

Bank Aus Verantwortung a renowned Bank of Germany 
and another donor has supported the growth of the 
sector in Pakistan. KfW initially gained experience 
by conducting reconstruction in Germany and later 
became active in other countries as well: in many poor 
areas of the world KfW Development Bank helps to 
promote the economy, reduce poverty and provide 
people with health care, education and a good future. 
On behalf of the Federal Government KfW implements 
Financial Cooperation, the success of which is 
measured by what has been achieved for the people 
– in a sustainable manner for the next generation too. 
In the meantime, KfW has become one of the largest 
development banks in the world. The KfW subsidiary 
DEG finances companies that invest and create jobs in 
developing countries. Mr. Imran Inayat Butt, Executive 
Director at SECP, acknowledged and thanked the hosts 
for conducting the event, as it gives an opportunity to 
the regulators to hear from stakeholders and hold a 
conducive dialogue around pressing issues facing the 
sector.

Mr. Yasir Ashfaq, CEO PMIC, while leading the session 
on PMIC’s role in the MF sector shared how it is 
creating synergies with partner organizations and 
facilitating MFPs with not only to access to wholesale 
funds but also has initiated pilots for creating a 
cohesive eco-system and has extended technical 
assistance for microfinance plus services. Beneficiaries 
of various MFIs presented their experience and 
highlighted their success stories of how microfinance 
has transformed their lives and also suggested 
areas where microfinance sector needs to focus on.
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While addressing the gathering during the session on 
Microfinance Plus, Mr. Ghalib Nishtar stated that the 
industry needs to embed microfinance plus services as 
one of the pillars in its business development strategy. 
He further added, the practitioners need to be 
supportive with  people  at the bottom of the pyramid 
through product innovation and also be sensitive to 
their requirements and remain ethical of their business 
practices.

Mr. Saqib Siddiqui, Head of Sector Development at 
PMIC provided the audience with an overview on 
PMIC’s focus on development and implementation 
of need based and innovative microfinance plus 
initiatives. With over 300 participants in attendance 
key stakeholders of the sector in participation were 
enlightened by Dr. Ishrat Hussain, Dean of IBA and 
former Governor of the State Bank of Pakistan who 
delivered the Summit’s keynote titled “Microfinance 
for Inclusive Growth”. He extolled microfinance 
institutions to maintain and redouble their efforts to 
provide financial services to marginalized segments of 
the population especially in districts with low access.

Over the two days of the conference, over 300 
distinguished and eminent speakers from the world’s 
leading microfinance organizations discussed the 

prevailing challenges and recent developments in the 
microfinance sector.

The conference presents a unique opportunity for 
policy makers, microfinance professionals, trainers, 
practitioners, donors, regulators and other members 
to engage in a dialogue and showcase a wide variety 
of success stories, explore recent innovations, and 
connect with the institutions that are involved in the 
digitization of microfinance in developing countries.

The social value of microfinance is of course of primary 
interest to the general public while microfinance 
stakeholders must concern themselves with the 
commercial sustainability of the sector. Syed Mohsin 
Ahmed, CEO of the Pakistan Microfinance Network, 
stated, “The sector has a double bottom line. While we 
are always focused on the social impact of the services 
the sector provides, the financial sustainability of the 
sector is essential because it ensures the organizations 
are able to carry on providing services into the future, 
thereby meeting the ongoing financial needs of 
the poor. As the sector gears up to double outreach 
in the next five years, there is a need to ascertain 
the impact of these services over the same period.

Information Hub

DFS FOR MICROFINANCE PROVIDERS (DFS4MFPS)

MF ASSESSMENTS
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Trainings are an important component of the capacity 
building function aimed at enhancing the capacity of 
the human resource with the MFPs. PMN has helped 
in strengthening  the  human  resource  base  of  
the industry by making considerable investment 
in providing international exposure and training 
opportunities to senior management of MFPs. PMN 
has also propagated international best practices 
and exchange of ideas at an international level. Our 
local trainings cater to frontline staff, enhancing their 

knowledge and ability to implement better industry 
practices on a day-to-day basis. This will eventually 
feed into institutional strengthening through 
improved staff performance. Also by initiating a 
program to build linkages with universities, PMN 
has put in place mechanisms that can be used to 
not only attract good HR to the sector but also raise 
understanding and interest amongst the academic 
community in microfinance. 

TRAININGS AND WORKSHOPS

DFS FOR MICROFINANCE PROVIDERS (DFS4MFPS)

PMN together with The Helix Institute partnered 
to offer training on Digital Financial Services for 
Microfinance Providers (DFS4MFPs) in Islamabad and 
Lahore, attended by 41 participants from different 
microfinance providers. Going digital is the new era 
for the Microfinance Providers (MFPs) with numerous 
benefits, as DFS has the power to minimize operational 
costs and upsurge out reach and efficiency. As we know, 
digital finance is an extremely complex component 
of financial inclusion and the operational challenges 
can quickly overpower institutions. This course allows 

participants to understand the benefits of going digital 
as well as the four strategic options available for MFPs. 
It gaits through the implementation steps of each of 
the options and identifies the inherent risks and ways of 
mitigating them. Both trainings incorporated a variety 
of methodologies to optimize the learning experience. 
Additionally, a field visit activity was incorporated in 
the training which gave participants the opportunity to 
interact with agents during the field visits and validate 
the lessons from the classroom training.

MF ASSESSMENTS

A Financial Awareness Program for MF-CIB Clients was 
initiated with the aim of developing and implementing 
a comprehensive education program for existing 
clients and potential client of microfinance providers in 
Pakistan who are integrated within the credit reporting 
framework. The purpose of the program is to create 
awareness among clients of Credit Information Bureau 
vis-a-vis credit reporting and bureau usage.

To achieve the objectives, we undertook the following 
activities: Training Need Assessment (TNA), Design and 
Development of Financial Literacy Toolkit, Design and 
Development of ToT Material, Audio & Video Airing of 

Financial Literacy Ads, ToT rollout and implementation 
of Awareness Sessions. 
It was found that there is alarming lack of awareness 
among the borrowers and MFP staff about CIB, their 
lack of knowledge and understanding of CIB report, 
the complexity of the format & language of CIB report, 
poor infrastructure and negative behavior of the MFP 
staff has added to the vulnerability of the microfinance 
sector and the borrowers. In order to overcome this, 
the capacity of the people needs to be amped up with 
planned initiatives focused on building the capacity to 
learn, adopt and take benefits from the services being 
provided by microfinance sector.

Capacity Building
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INTERNATIONAL MICROFINANCE TRAININGS

As an important component of the capacity building 
function, training is aimed at enhancing the work-
related capacity of the existing human resource of 
the MFPs. This activity has been tiered to include 
International Trainings and Exposure Visits to cater to 
the training needs of the senior management level. 
The international trainings and exposure visits provide 
opportunities to the senior management of the MFPs 
to learn about global microfinance best practices, 

so they can further thrive in their leadership roles.

Keeping in view the growing demand for building 
the capacity of MFP managers and cultivating the 
‘next generation’ of leadership in MFP’s, the Pakistan 
Microfinance Network sponsors 9 candidates annually 
from the member institutions for the following 
international trainings:

•     HBS-ACCION, Program on Strategic Leadership for Microfinance
•     Boulder Microfinance Training Program 

All these training are intensive training programmes 
providing participants from all over the world an 

opportunity to learn about microfinance best practices 
and share experiences with leaders in the field. 

Participants Trained Type of Training

International Trainings

2 HBS – ACCION Strategic Leadership Course

3 Boulder Microfinance Course

Local Trainings

41 DFS for Microfinance Providers (DFS4MFPS)

50 Orientation session on Online reporting with SECP

30 Roundtable on Capitalization

126 Total industry participants trained (approximate)

Capacity Building

REGULATIONS FOR NON-BANK MFIS 

GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL MECHANISM (GRM) 
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INTERNATIONAL MICROFINANCE TRAININGS

The Network values its relationship with key 
stakeholders in the Government, in particular 
with SBP, PPAF, DFID, SECP and the Ministry of 
Finance. PMN continued to hold dialogues with 
SBP through sector level discussions at one on one 
meeting between the PMN CEO and the Director 
MFD.Since PMN is a member of most of the SBP 
committees that oversee microfinance issues, the 
sector’s view is discussed at those forums also. PMN 

also sits on the task force set up by the Planning 
Commission that reviews Pakistan’s achievements 
and challenges to its commitment with the United 
Nations on the Millennium Development Goals. 
 
The following are some of the key policy level issues 
especially during the year 2017 - that PMN has been 
engaged in and/or has raised at certain policy level 
forums.

POLICY ADVOCACY

REGULATIONS FOR NON-BANK MFIS 

PMN continued to work closely with SECP in order to 
bring remaining entities into the regulatory ambit. At 
the end of the year up to 25 entities had been licensed. 
PMN Board and Management to interact with SECP at 

all levels to improve the regulatory regimes and make 
necessary amendments. It is hoped that SECP will 
provide similar support to NBMFIs as provided by SBP 
to MFBs in their formative years.

GRIEVANCE REDRESSAL MECHANISM (GRM) 

PMN is a member of the NFIS technical committee on 
financial literacy and consumer protection. The issue 
around ensuring that a tiered system approach to 
addressing customer’s grievance is fully acceptable to 
NFIS (represented by SBP and SECP). We expect that in 
the next few months this will become part of the NFIS 
operational mechanism.  

PMN CEO is also a member of the SMART Global 

Advisory Board and is not only involved in taking 
decisions that promotes addressal of demand side 
issues but also helps in creating linkage with players 
that focuses on issues of responsible finance, client 
awareness and grievance redressal mechanisms. PMN 
is seeking services of SMART India office to map the 
current status of GRM and provide feed-back to ensure 
that options are available given global experiences of 
successes and failures.

Enabling Environment

Enabling Environment
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DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT FUND 

PMN continued its interaction with insurance providers, 
donors and regulators to set up a disaster risk 

management insurance facility for the microfinance in 
the industry in the country.

AGGREGATION OF BUREAUS AND SCORING MODELS 

A concept note written for NFIS Sub-Committee on 
Microfinance on the above issue has been forwarded 
to SBP for onward processing. The concept note was 
reviewed by various stakeholders including regulators 

and participants and after which decided to hire a 
consultant to develop a workable model for aggregation 
of data. SBP has floated an Ad in international 
publications for hiring of consultant.

ADDRESSING TAX ISSUES / ANOMALIES 

A note in this regard was developed by PMN for the 
NFIS Sub-Committee on Microfinance and forwarded 
to relevant authorities. Federal Board of Revenue (FBR) 

only approved the reduction of withholding tax on 
branchless banking transactions.

DEVELOPING REPORTING CRITERIA FOR NBMFIS WITH SECP

PMN assisted the SECP in developing reporting 
criteria for SECP keeping in view the working and 
dynamics of the microfinance industry. In this regard, 

international guidelines and best practices were shared 
with SECP. Moreover, PMN own reporting formats and 
requirements were shared with SECP.

Enabling Environment

Enabling Environment

Enabling Environment

Enabling Environment
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DISASTER RISK MANAGEMENT FUND 

AGGREGATION OF BUREAUS AND SCORING MODELS 

ADDRESSING TAX ISSUES / ANOMALIES 

DEVELOPING REPORTING CRITERIA FOR NBMFIS WITH SECP
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02
DIGITAL SERVICES  
PLATFORM (DSP)
PMN aims to further its efforts towards bringing 
the non-banked into the mainstream by opening 
an avenue electronic payments system for the 
microfinance industry, under the umbrella of the 
Digital Services Platform (DSP).

Page 19
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The Digital Services Platform envisages offering various 
digital services in a shared hosting environment for 
its members. The platform will host various financial 
tools and solutions including workflow-based product 
modules, middleware, integrated services, general 

ledger solutions, MIS and data analytics modules. DSP 
will enable MFPs to digitize their records, optimize 
business processes from manual to workflow based 
with the aim of increasing outreach through integration 
with agent networks. 

The Platform aims to achieve the following objectives: 

1. To create an enabling environment for MFIs and MFBs as per State Bank’s vision for financial 
              inclusion.
2. Expose the microfinance sector to the realm of digital payments.
3. To deploy and promote the use of Alternate Delivery Channels (ADCs).
4. To reduce cost, improve gross margin by reducing operating cost, enable MFPs for higher growth,  
              outreach reach and bring diversification in products and services.
5. To support PMN’s ambition to increase outreach of financial services as envisaged by National  
              Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) and Financial Inclusion Programme (FIP).
6. To provide MFPs a centralized platform to manage their operations via a suite of Digital Services.
7. To aggregate available agent networks and provide a single touch-point to MFPs for integration.
8. To envisage, in the long run, creating a payments eco-system to further drive down costs of local  
              transactions. 

Digital Services Platform (DSP) will act as a central hub for MFPs digitization needs. The overalscope is divided 
in phases as shown below.

•    Customized Back Office   
      Automation for MFPs 

•    Middleware  

•    Standardized MIS & GL 

•    Reconciliation & Settlement  
     Reports 

•    Tenancy Management 

•    Integration with BB Providers 

•    Digitization of Loan  
     Disbursement & Repayment    
     Process

•    Credit Scoring 

•    End to end digitization  
      through Mobile Accounts 

•    ERP Solution 

•    Integration with Credit  
     Bureau

•    Integration with Switch(es)  
      and/or payment gateway

Phase 1                                                     Phase 2                                                  Phase 3
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LOAN MANAGEMENT

DSP will offer a central loan management system to 
all the members which would digitize the complete 
loan management process from application till 
disbursement and then repayment. The system will 
enable loan officers to insert the clients’ information 

digitally and subsequently approvals can be provided 
by relevant authorities. It is envisaged to be integrated 
with NADRA and Credit Bureau to check authenticity 
of data and credit rating in real time. It would also 
include standard reconciliation and reporting features.

FINANCIAL MIDDLEWARE

DSP will provide a central financial middleware while 
integrating with branchless banking operators, ATM 
network and other payment systems in a phase-
wise to allow MFPs to disburse and recover loans 
through digital channels. Both disbursements and 

repayments would happen in real time at agent 
location and through m-wallets in the future, thus 
significantly reducing the operational expense. 
Apart from disbursements and repayments, several 
other payment features will be enabled in future.

CENTRALLY HOSTED – MULTI-TENANT SOLUTION

CALL CENTER

CAPACITY BUILDING

CENTRALIZED SET TLEMENT



MFP 1

MFP 3

MFP 2

REAL TIME DISBURSEMENT 
CASH-OUT, REPAYMENT

DSP

ALL MFP CLIENTS
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LOAN MANAGEMENT

FINANCIAL MIDDLEWARE

CENTRALLY HOSTED – MULTI-TENANT SOLUTION

The platform will be hosted in a state of the art PCI-
DSS compliant environment thus reducing the hassle 
of managing hardware for MFPs. The solution will be 
centrally hosted with multiple tenants sharing the 
platform, with necessary partitioning such that each 

member would have access to their own data. PMN 
would be managing the platform with 24/7 monitoring 
which would ensure highly available and optimum 
quality service.

CALL CENTER

PMN  intends  to setup  a  central  call  center with 
a modern CRM for complaint management. All MFPs 
would be able to utilize this call center which would 

be responsible for identifying and getting the clients’ 
issues resolved through coordination with MFPs and 
technical vendors.

CAPACITY BUILDING

PMN  intends  to  provide necessary technical consultancy 
and training to members to enable them on the new 
platform. This would ensure that technological and 

operational changes are absorbed by the members 
smoothly and they are able to use the platform to their 
advantage.

CENTRALIZED SET TLEMENT

PMN would be the single point of contact for MFPs for 
all kind of settlements with branchless banking players, 
commercial banks and other payment switches. This 

would significantly reduce the workload of MFPs while 
introducing efficiency in the processes.
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MOBILE ACCOUNTS

PMN intends to open mobile accounts of MFP clients 
in partnership with branchless banking operators. This 

will be step towards achieving financial inclusion goals 
while reducing dependency on the agent networks. 

IMPACT OF DSP ON MICROFINANCE OUTREACH AND  
FINANCIAL INCLUSION

In 2015, Pakistan launched its National Financial 
Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) to help the country achieve its 
financial inclusion goals. Pakistan’s goal is to achieve 
universal financial access, with a headline NFIS target 
of expanding formal financial access to at least 50% 
of adults, including women and youth, and to increase 
the percentage of SME loans in bank lending to 15% 
by 2020. Pakistan Microfinance Network has embarked 
on the journey to realize the goals envisioned in 
NFIS by leveraging the existing digital channels 
available. Digital Services Platform will provide the 
necessary infrastructure to the microfinance industry 
to digitize their process while focusing to bring 

operational efficiency. Digitalization will eventually 
lead to expansion of microfinance operations as the 
turn-around times of loan disbursements and the 
convenience repayments being made at any agent 
and through m-wallets in the future. This will also 
bring a wider set of unserved population under into 
the fold of formal financial services. Microfinance 
industry currently standing at around 6 million active 
borrowers, aims to reach to 10 million borrowers, 50 
million Depositors, 13 million insurance policy holders 
by 2020. Digital Services Platform is going to play a vital 
role to help push the needle of microfinance outreach 
thus deepening financial inclusion in the country. 

Enabling Environment
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MOBILE ACCOUNTS

IMPACT OF DSP ON MICROFINANCE OUTREACH AND  
FINANCIAL INCLUSION
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03
CENTRE OF EXCELLENCE (CoE)
Financial exclusion in Pakistan is pervasive though improving 
gradually but lower in comparison to the South Asia region. With the 
renewed focus on the uptake of financial, the State Bank of Pakistan 
has formed a framework to better financial access and quality 
indicators through various initiatives. 

Page 25
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 In the context of low financial inclusion, Microfinance 
is being considered a key element in offering full suite 
of financial services including credit, savings, insurance 
and payments to the underserved and marginalized 
segments. PMN has developed a growth strategy to 
reach to 10 Million borrowers, 50 million savers and 
10 million insurance policy holders to further the 
objectives of NFIS. 

To achieve growth targets, the sector must double its 
growth which require financing and bringing about 
operational efficiencies. However, the one most crucial 
factors that will contribute to the growth and minimize 
risks is investment in Human Capital. Nevertheless, 
the unavailability of wholistic sector level capacity 
building intervention lead to inconsistent development 
initiatives has dampened the process of exponential 
but sustained growth. Whilst the ever-changing 
technological environment and in the era of digital/
online banking, the sector is under a little pressure 

as their pace of adopting to such technologies as it 
required skilled human resource. Nevertheless, this 
problem persists within every industry, but some 
industries are coping with it swiftly to minimize the 
risk of being left behind. 

Sharpening focus on human capital enhancement has 
become detrimental for the sector to make available 
specialized trainings & certifications on a regular basis 
to the staff. For this purpose, PMN has set up a Training 
Centre of Excellence (CoE) that will act as an innovative 
knowledge entity where subject matter experts are 
developing tailor-made course curriculum that will be 
updated annually. Our research shows the opportunity 
to maximize impact lies with mid-level managers. 
Therefore, the program will mainly focus on areas 
pertaining to middle managers while some courses 
will be targeting senior managers. The CoE model is 
based on the following principles:

The CoE model is based on the following principles: 

1.     High Impact Certified trainings.
2.     Improve Approach using best practice adult education.
3.     Certified trainer education program.
4.     Leverages technology enabled blended e-learning.

The CoE theory of change is to improve the engine of 
growth prioritizing the engineers – middle managers. 
The program will prioritize both soft and technical 
skills training related to risk management, portfolio 

management,  financial  analysis, digital finance, rural 
and agriculture finance, MSME finance, strategic 
planning for Microfinance providers, management & 
operations, marketing  &  communications   to  name  a  few. 

The project plan consists of the following steps: 

1.     Setting up steering committee.
2.     Develop courses curriculum, design and implement ToTs for the ‘Microfinance Leaders Program targeting  
        800 mid-to-senior level managers. Build a network of 100 certified trainers.
3.     Blended certification programs with Frankfurt School of Finance and Management aiming to certify 300  
         managers.
4.     Establish an innovative and sustainability knowledge entity.

Capacity Building
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Digitizing Microfinance  Payment  
Ecosystem

Credit Bureau

Disaster Risk Management  
Framework

Regional Perspectives on South 
Asia’s Policy, Regulations and  

Innovation for Financial Inclusion
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TOTAL ASSETS  222,979,691             198,450,705

FUNDS AND RESERVE:

Unrestricted funds

Endowment fund

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

Deferred grants

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued and other liabilities

TOTAL FUNDS, RESERVE AND LIABILITIES

CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS

The annexed notes, from 1 to 38, form an integral part of these financial statements.

     2017                  2016

CURRENT ASSETS

Grant receivable

Consultancy fees receivable

Loans and advances

Deposits and short-term prepayments

Interest accrued

Other receivables

Short-term investments

Cash and bank balances
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

BALANCE SHEET 
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE                                                                          RUPEES

NON-CURRENT ASSETS

Property and equipment

Intangible assets

Long-term loans

Long-term investments

5

6

7

8

 5,477,317 

 984,536 

 677,277 

 79,019,446 

 86,158,576 

 4,219,823 

 964,077 

 492,869 

 20,463,411 

 26,140,180 

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

 55,674,069 

 5,519,961 

 5,334,353 

 5,851,554 

 171,312 

 30,243,506 

 20,000,000 

 14,026,360 

 136,821,115 

 49,130,017 

 16,073,940 

 4,108,794 

 3,199,657 

 1,071,968 

 12,799,435 

 45,377,171 

 40,549,543 

 172,310,525 

 130,598,223 

 70,485,728 

 201,083,951 

 115,874,610 

 70,485,728 

 186,360,338 

17

18

19

  3,097,662  874,344 

  18,798,078   11,216,023 

   222,979,691    198,450,705 

20

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR



     2017                  2016

The annexed notes, from 1 to 38, form an integral part of these financial statements.
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

NOTE                                                                          RUPEES

INCOME

Grant income

Members’ contributions against  

Membership, subscriptions and registration fees

Trainings

Consultancy income

Income from sponsorships

Other income 

21

22

23

24

25

170,429,961 

  

8,850,000

9,923,352 

 - 

14,692,536

17,817,235

221,713,084

89,254,433 

 

7,365,000

5,790,764 

21,865,003 

8,352,072 

9,591,188

142,218,460 

EXPENDITURE 

Governance and management 

Capacity building 

Enabling environment 

Information hub

26

27

28

29

 33,645,261 

 9,744,869 

 71,534,943 

 54,412,030 

 169,337,103 

 19,475,774

 6,311,538

 38,524,025 

 24,074,771 

 88,386,108 

 

Consulting services 

Other operating expenses 

 

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

30

31

  

 -- 

 37,652,368 

 

 

 38,347,699

 1,118,883 

 

 
14,723,613            14,365,770

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR



     2017                  2016

Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
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DIRECTOR

PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

        2017                 2016

                                                                         RUPEES

SURPLUS FOR THE YEAR

 

Other comprehensive income:
Gain on sale of Available-For-Sale investments transferred to the 

income and expenditure statement.

Surplus on remeasurement to fair value of Available-For-Sale

investments 

TOTAL OTHER COMREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR

 14,723,613 

 

  

--

--

14,723,613 

 14,365,770 

 

 

(158,307)

6,503 

14,213,966 

The annexed notes, from 1 to 38, form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

     2017                  2016

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIE

Surplus for the year

Adjustments for non-cash and other items:  

Depreciation charge for the year 

Amortization charge for the year 

Exchange loss 

(Gain) / loss on disposal of fixed assets 

Grant receivable written-off 

Other receivables written-off 

Consultancy receivables written-off 

Provision against doubtful debts 

Amortization of deferred grant  

Expenses allocated to endowment fund payable 

Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments 

Liabilities written-back 

Profit on bank placements and investment income 

 14,723,613 

 

 2,051,620 

 517,824 

 97,891 

 (139,938)

 15,302,047 

 3,124,576 

 1,698,400 

 9,808,834 

 (1,092,858)

 -   

 -   

 (36,517)

 (8,651,988)

22,679,891 

 14,365,770  

 

 1,664,741 

 327,634 

 30,030 

 25,486 

 772,132 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 (794,098)

 (135,682)

 (158,307)

 (587,300)

 (5,509,433)

(4,364,797)

Working capital changes: 
Decrease / (increase) in current assets 

Consultancy fees receivable 

Loans and advances 

Deposits and short-term prepayments 

Other receivables 

Increase in current liabilities  

Accrued and other liabilities

Deferred grants 

Net cash flows generated from operating activities 

 8,855,579 

 (1,008,156)

 (2,651,897)

 (30,475,372)

 7,618,572 

(17,661,274)

(19,083,164)

659,066 

 (3,269,117)

 (2,070,446)

 1,653,648 

 (1,806,949)

 9,402,075

 3,909,211 

45,403

13,955,587 



Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
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     2017                  2016

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  
Purchase of property and equipment 

Intangible assets acquired 

Sale proceeds on disposal of property and equipment 

Short-term investments - net 

Long-term investments - net 

Long-term loans 

Investment income on bank deposits and investments 

Net cash flows (used in) / generated from investing activities 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
 
Net (decrease) / increase in cash and cash equivalents 
 during the year  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF  
THE YEAR 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE 
YEAR  
 

 (3,316,176)

 (538,283)

 147,000 

 25,377,171 

 (58,556,035)

 (401,811)

10,105,885 

(27,182,249)

       ----

(26,523,183)

40,549,543

14,026,360 

 (315,120)

 (1,220,069)

 2,600 

 (16,379,071)

 22,694,946 

 39,473 

11,786,414 

16,609,173 

         ---

30,564,760 

9,984,783

40,549,543 

 

The annexed notes, from 1 to 38, form an integral part of these financial statements.  

16



Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUNDS AND RESERVE 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

Balance as at January 01, 2016    

Transfer from income and expenditure statement  

Gain on sale of AFS investments transferred to the  

income and expenditure statement   

Surplus on remeasurement to fair value of AFS   

investments    

Transfer from Endowment fund payable   

Balance as at December 31, 2016    

Transfer from income and expenditure statement 

Balance as at December 31, 2017  

RESERVE  

Unrestricted     
        funds 
 
 

Endowment 
       fund

Surplus on remeas-
urement to fair value 
of available-for-sale 

investments

Total

101,508,840 

14,365,770 

 -   

 -   

115,874,610 

14,723,613 

130,598,223 

-    

- 

-   

-

-

-   

70,485,728 

70,485,728 

-

 70,485,728

151,804 

-

-    

(158,307)

-

 6,503 

- 

-   

-

-

101,660,644 

14,365,770 

(158,307)

 6,503 

70,485,728 

186,360,338 

14,723,613 

201,083,951 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR

The annexed notes, from 1 to 38, form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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PAKISTAN MICROFINANCE NETWORK 
(A company set up under section 42 of the Companies Ordinance, 1984) 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2017

1- LEGAL STATUS AND OPERATIONS

Pakistan Microfinance Network (the Company), was incorporated on April 24, 2001, under section 42 of the Companies 
Ordinance, 1984 (the Ordinance) (repealed on promulgation of the Companies Act 2017 w.e.f. 30 May, 2017) as a 
guarantee limited company. The mission of the Company is to enhance the scale, quality, diversity and sustainability of 
retail Microfinance Institutions (MFIs) in Pakistan. The Company pursues this mission through the achievement of the 
following three primary objectives:

 (i) Enhancing the capacity of retail MFIs;       
 (ii) Establishing the use of performance measures and promoting financial  
                            transparency in retail MFIs; and       
 (iii) Creating an enabling policy environment for retail MFIs.      
 
         The registered office of the Company is situated at 3rd floor, mandir square, plot 12-C/2, G-8 markaz, Islamabad.

2- STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

“These  financial  statements  have  been  prepared  in accordance with the approved accounting standards as applicable 
in Pakistan. Approved accounting standards comprise of International Financial Reporting Standards for Small and 
Medium-Sized Entities (IFRS for SMEs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the Accounting 
Standard for Not for Profit Organizations (NPOs) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Pakistan, as 
are notified under the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 and provisions of and directives issued, thereunder. 
In case requirements differ, the provisions or directives of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984 shall prevail.                                                                                                             
 
The Securities and Exchange Commission of Pakistan, vide circular No. 23 of 2017, dated October 04, 2017, has allowed 
companies whose financial year closes on or before December 31, 2017 to prepare their financial statements in 
accordance with the provisions of the repealed Companies Ordinance, 1984. Accordingly, the financial statements of 
the Company for the year ending December 31, 2018 will be prepared under the provisions of the Companies Act, 2017. 
 

3- BASIS OF PREPARATION

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.   
These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional currency i.e. the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.       
 

4-         SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1-    CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES RESULTING FROM ADOPTION OF  
           AMENDMENTS    

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.   
These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional currency i.e. the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Company operates.     
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4.2     SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS   

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with approved accounting standards requires the use 
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process 
of applying the Company’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are 
based on historic experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimate is revised and in any future periods affected.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made the following estimates 
and judgments, which are significant to the financial statements:

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT AND INTANGIBLES (NOTE 5 AND 6)   

The Company reviews the appropriateness of the rate of depreciation and amortization, useful lives and 
residual values used in the calculation of depreciation and amortization. Further, where applicable, an 
estimate of the recoverable amount of assets is made for possible impairment on an annual basis. In making 
these estimates, the Company uses the technical resources available with the Company. Any change in the 
estimates in the future might affect the carrying amount of the respective item of property and equipment 
or intangible assets, with a corresponding effect on the related depreciation charge/ amortization and 
impairment.

PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES (NOTE 9, 10 AND 14)   

The allowance for doubtful debts of the Company is based on the ageing analysis and management’s 
continuous evaluation of the recoverability of the outstanding receivables. In assessing the ultimate 
realisation of these receivables, management considers, among other factors, the creditworthiness and the 
past collection history of each party.        

4.3     PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT  
 

These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. Cost comprises of acquisition and 
other directly attributable costs. 
       
Depreciation is charged to income applying the straight-line method, whereby the cost of an asset is written-off 
over its estimated useful life. The rates of depreciation are stated in note 5 to the financial statements. Depreciation 
on assets is charged from the date of acquisition till the date of disposal. 
      
Useful lives are determined by the management based on the expected usage of assets, the expected physical 
wear and tear, technical and commercial obsolescence, legal and similar limits on the use of assets and other 
similar factors.  The assets’ residual values, useful lives and methods are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, 
at each financial year end. The effect of any adjustment to residual values, useful lives and methods is 
recognized prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
 
The carrying values of property and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists and where the 
carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets or cash-generating units are written down 
to their recoverable amount. 
       
An item of property and equipment is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain  or loss arising on derecognition of the asset, (calculated  as the  
difference between  the  net disposal  proceeds  and  the carrying amount  of  the asset), is included in the income 
and expenditure statement, in the year the asset is derecognized.Normal repairs and maintenance costs are 
charged to the income and expenditure statement as and when incurred.       
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4.4     INTANGIBLE ASSETS  
 

These are stated at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment, if any.  Cost comprises of acquisition and 
other directly attributable costs. 
       
Amortization is provided for by applying the straight line method. In respect of additions and disposals of intangible 
assets made during the year, amortization is charged to the income and expenditure statement from the month of 
acquisition, and up to the month preceding the disposal of such assets. The rate of amortization, which is disclosed in 
note 6, is designed to write-off the cost of intangible assets over the estimated useful lives.

The carrying values of intangible assets are reviewed for impairment, when events or changes in circumstances 
indicate the carrying values may not be recoverable. If any such indication exists, and where the carrying values 
exceed the estimated recoverable amounts, the assets or cash-generating units are written down to their recoverable 
amounts. The recoverable amount of intangible assets is the greater of net selling price and value-in-use.  
Gains and losses on disposal of intangible assets are charged to income.      
  

4.5     LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS  
  

(a) Held-to-maturity investments       

Non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities, are classified as held-
to-maturity when management has both the intent and the ability to hold these assets till maturity. These are 
initially recognized at fair value plus transaction costs, if any. After initial recognition, held-to-maturity investments 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are 
recognized in the income and expenditure statement when the investments are derecognized, as well as through the 
EIR amortization process.       
         
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition, and fees or costs that are 
an integral part of the EIR. Sale of other than an insignificant amount of held-to-maturity financial assets, before their 
maturity, will result in the reclassification of the whole category of financial assets as available-for-sale.    
   
         
(b)  Available-for-sale investments       
         
Available-for-sale financial assets of the Company are non-derivative financial instruments that are either 
designated in this category or not classified in any of the other categories such as held-to-maturity or held-for-
trading. Available-for-sale financial assets are carried at fair value. 
      
These are initially recognized at fair value plus any transaction costs. After initial measurement, available-for-sale 
financial investments are subsequently measured at fair value with unrealized gains or losses recognized directly 
in the statement of changes in funds and reserve, under “Surplus on remeasurement to fair value of available-
for-sale investments reserve” until the investment is derecognized. Upon de-recognition the cumulative gain 
or loss is recognized in the income and expenditure statement as other income, or, in the case of impairment, 
the cumulative loss is reclassified to the income and expenditure statement and removed from the “Surplus on 
remeasurement to fair value of available-for-sale investments reserve. 
      
Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired, or 
the Company has transferred, substantially, all the risks and rewards of the asset.     
  

4.6     CONSULTANCY FEES RECEIVABLE   
  

These  are  recognized  and  carried  at  the  original invoice amounts, being the fair value less an allowance for 
uncollectible amounts, if any. An estimate for doubtful debts is made when collection is no longer probable. 
Bad debts are written-off when identified.        
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4.7     LOANS, ADVANCES AND RECEIVABLES   
   These are recognized at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration given. An assessment is made at each 

balance sheet date to determine, whether there is an indication that a financial asset, or a group of financial assets, 
may be impaired. If such an indication exists, the estimated recoverable amount of that asset is determined and 
an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between the recoverable amount and the carrying value. 
       

4.8     CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
   Cash and cash equivalents are carried in the balance sheet, at cost. For the purpose of the cash flow statement, 

cash and cash equivalents comprise of cash in hand and bank balances. 

4.9     ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES   
   Liabilities for accrued and other liabilities are carried at cost, which is the fair value of the consideration to be paid 

in future for goods and services received, whether or not billed to the Company.

4.10   PROVISIONS 
   

Provisions are recognized when the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event, and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of such obligation. Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the liability.        
     

4.11   STAFF RETIREMENT BENEFITS   
 

Defined contribution plans
 
The Company operates a defined contribution provident fund scheme for its permanent employees. Contributions 
to the fund are made by the Company and its employees, in accordance with the employment contract. The rate 
of employer and employee contributions is 10% of the basic pay of permanent employees. The scheme is fully 
funded and is being managed by MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited, on behalf of each individual 
employee.

The Company has also entered into an arrangement with an insurance company, EFU Life Insurance Limited 
(EFU), in respect of a post employment benefit scheme for its employees, whereby the premium is paid annually 
to EFU in respect of the scheme and charged to income. As per the scheme, EFU is required to pay, one gross 
salary for every year of service to permanent employees, upon completion of three years of service. 

Under the above mentioned arrangements, the Company is only liable to pay the agreed contributions/premiums 
to MCB - Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited and EFU, and the liability towards employees rests with MCB 
- Arif Habib Savings and Investments Limited and EFU.       

4.12   TAXATION 
  

Previously, the Company obtained registration as a non-profit organization, under section 2(36) of Income 
Tax Ordinance, 2001 (the Ordinance). Owing to a change in rule 214 of the Income Tax Rules, 2002, 
introduced via a Statutory Regulatory Order dated August 15, 2016, the Company’s registration under the 
section 2(36) of the Ordinance, now requires renewal after every three years. Management has applied 
for the renewal and is confident of such approval being granted before filing of its tax return for current tax 
year. As a non-profit organization, in accordance with section 100C of the Ordinance, the Company will be 
allowed a tax credit equal to one hundred percent of the tax payable, including minimum tax and final tax 
payable, under any of the provisions of the Ordinance, subject to conditions as outlined in section 100C. 
 
Accordingly, no provision for tax has been recognised in the financial statements of the Company.
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4.13   FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION   
   

These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at the exchange rates approximating those 
ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 
rates of exchange which approximate those prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses on translation 
are taken to income currently. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair 
value was determined.

4.14   OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES    
   

These financial statements are presented in Pak Rupees, which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency. Foreign currency transactions during the year are recorded at the exchange rates approximating those 
ruling on the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign currencies are translated at the 
rates of exchange which approximate those prevailing on the balance sheet date. Gains and losses on translation 
are taken to income currently. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates when the fair 
value was determined.

4.15   IMPAIRMENT 
   

Financial assets        
A financial asset is assessed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one or more 
events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of the asset.     
   
Non-financial assets        
The carrying values of non-financial assets are assessed at each balance sheet date to determine whether there 
is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the recoverable amount of the non-financial 
assets is estimated. An impairment loss is recognized as an expense in the income and expenditure statement, for 
the amount by which the non-financial asset’s carrying value exceeds its recoverable amount.

4.16   INCOME RECOGNITION  
 

Grant income        
Grants are recognized where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached 
conditions will be complied with.        
        
Income related grants        
Grants of a non-capital nature are recognized as deferred income at the time of their receipt. Subsequently, these 
are recognized in the income and expenditure statement to the extent of expenditure incurred. Expenditure 
incurred against grants, against which grant funds have been committed but not received, is recognized directly 
in the income and expenditure statement and reflected as a receivable from donors.

Capital grants        
Grants received for the purchase of fixed assets are initially recorded as deferred income upon receipt. Subsequently, 
these are recognized in the income and expenditure statement, on a systematic basis, over the periods necessary 
to match them with the carrying value of the related assets.       
 
Consultancy income and training fees         
These are recognized when the related service has been rendered.      
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4.17  CLASSIFICATION OF CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES    
 

The Company  presents  assets and liabilities in statement of financial position based on current/non-current 
classification. An asset as current when it is:  
       
i)      Expected to be realised or intended to sold or consumed in normal operating cycle.     
ii)     Held primarily for the purpose of trading         
iii)    Expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or      
iv)      Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months  
         after the reporting period.         
        
All other assets are classified as non-current.         
        
A liability is current when:         
i)     It is expected to be settled in normal operating cycle         
ii)    It is held primarily for the purpose of trading         
iii)   It is due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or       
iv)   There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the liability for at least twelve months after the reporting  
       period         
        
The Company classifies all other liabilities as non-current.       

Registration and membership subscription fees and income from sponsorships     
These are recognized on an accrual basis.        
        
Profit on bank deposits and investments        
Mark-up/ interest on bank deposits and return on investments is recognized using the Effective Interest Rate method. 
       

 

4.18  UNRESTRICTED FUNDS  
    

This represents a general fund of the Company, comprising of the surplus generated from the Company’s 
operations, and is available for utilization for the day to day operations of the Company. The income 
generated from the investments out of endowment fund is also available for utilization for the day to day 
operations of the Company.         
        



As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE

2016   

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fittings

Office equipment

Computer equipment

Note

 4,751,121 

 1,192,140 

 2,690,581 

 2,681,167 

 11,315,009 

 78,000 

 51,490 

 45,630 

 140,000 

 315,120 

 -   

 -   

 (35,909)

 -   

 (35,909)

 4,829,121 

 1,243,630 

 2,700,302 

 2,821,167 

 11,594,220 

20

20

20

33

 520,671 

 1,033,579 

 1,824,919 

 2,338,310 

 5,717,479 

 951,347 

 109,096 

 328,854 

 275,444 

 1,664,741 

 -   

 -   

 (7,823)

 -   

 (7,823)

 1,472,018 

 1,142,675 

 2,145,950 

 2,613,754 

 7,374,397 

 3,357,103 

 100,955 

 554,352 

 207,413 

 4,219,823 

As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE
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5        PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
     

2017   

Leasehold improvements

Furniture and fittings

Office equipment

Computer equipment

Note

5.1 

5.2

4,829,121 

1,243,630 

2,700,302 

2,821,167 

11,594,220 

 -   

 1,004,446 

 382,130 

 1,929,600 

 3,316,176 

 -   

(613,132)

(50,800)

(1,779,218)

(2,443,150)

 4,829,121 

 1,634,944 

 3,031,632 

 2,971,549 

 12,467,246 

20

20

20

33

1,472,018 

1,142,675 

2,145,950 

2,613,754 

7,374,397 

 965,824 

 193,666 

 257,832 

 634,298 

 2,051,620 

 -   

 (613,132)

 (50,800)

 (1,772,156)

 (2,436,088)

 2,437,842 

 723,209 

 2,352,982 

 1,475,896 

 6,989,929 

 2,391,279 

 911,735 

 678,650 

 1,495,653 

 5,477,317 

5.1    These assets have been purchased from the Company’s own resources.      
         

5.2    This includes assets amounting to Rs. 37,000 purchased from the Company’s own resources; the  
          remaining fixed assets have been purchased from capital grants, as mentioned in note 18.1.   
            
              



6    INTANGIBLE ASSETS

2017 

                           

GIS based support system 

MicroEye

Accounting and anti-virus 

software

Staff Information Bureau

Pakistan Microfinance Review

Note

 

6.1

 2,429,755 

 1,894,240 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 5,714,861 

 -   

 538,283 

 -   

 -   

 538,283 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

   

 2,429,755 

 2,432,523 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 6,253,144 

33

33

33

33

 2,429,755 

 930,163 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 4,750,784 

  -   

 517,824 

 -   

 -   

 517,824 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,429,755 

 1,447,987 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 5,268,608 

 -   

 984,536 

 -   

 -   

 984,536 

 

6.1    During the year, the company upgraded it’s accounting software from it’s own resources.    
  

As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE

2016 

                           

GIS based support system 

MicroEye

Accounting and anti-virus 

software

Staff Information Bureau

Pakistan Microfinance Review

Note

 
 2,429,755 

 674,171 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 4,494,792 

  -   

 1,220,069 

 -   

 -   

 1,220,069 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

   

  2,429,755 

 1,894,240 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 5,714,861 

33

33

33

33

 2,429,755 

 602,529 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 4,423,150 

 

   -   

 327,634 

 -   

 -   

 327,634 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,429,755 

 930,163 

 273,311 

 1,117,555 

 4,750,784 

 -   

 964,077 

 -   

 -   

 964,077 

 

As at 01 
January

Additions (Disposals) As at 31 
December 

As at 01 
January

Charge for 
the year

(On  
disposals)

As at 31 
December

As at 31 
December

Rate 
%

COST ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION  
  

WRITTEN 
DOWN VALUE

Page 45Pakistan Microfinance Network | Annual Report - 2017



7      LONG-TERM LOANS
  

      2017                  2016

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

1,267,116 

(589,839)

677,277 

 865,305 

 (372,436)

 492,869 

Considered good - unsecured    

Loans to employees    

Current portion shown under current assets  

  

11

7.1   Interest at the rate of 5% (2016: 5%) is charged on the long-term loans extended to employees.   
       

8     LONG-TERM INVESTMENTS  

      2017                   2016

               NOTE                                                            RUPEES

 -   

 35,508,462 

 21,245,974 

 10,913,769 

 11,351,241 

 79,019,446 

 -   

 79,019,446 

 13,069,377 

 22,525,771 

 -   

 -   

 10,245,434 

 45,840,582 

 (25,377,171)

 20,463,411 

Certificate of Investment (CoI) in Pak Oman Invest-

ment Company  

   

Investments in related parties    

Term Deposit Receipt in    

FINCA Microfinance Bank Limited    

NRSP Microfinance Bank Limited    

Mobilink Microfinance Bank Limited   

U Microfinance Bank Limited 

Less: current portion of long-term investments  

8.1

8.2 

8.3 

8.4 

8.5 

15 

8.1   Details of investment in CoI are as follows:         
   

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate          Effective rate          Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)       (per annum)       (Rupees)
 
27-May-14                  29-May-17                  Upon maturity                 12%                       10.8%              10,000,000 

8.2   Details of investment in TDR are as follows:    
            

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate          Effective rate          Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)       (per annum)       (Rupees)

23-Dec-17      23-Dec-20           Upon maturity                11%    9.97%              13,242,958 

13-Oct-16      13-Oct-19           Upon maturity     11%    9.97%            10,000,000 

16-Jan-17                    16-Jan-20           Upon maturity     11.5%  10.38%            10,000,000 
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8.3    Details of investment in TDR are as follows:    
            

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate          Effective rate          Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)       (per annum)       (Rupees)
18-May-17      18-May-20          Upon maturity      11%  9.97%           20,000,000 

8.4    Details of investment in TDR are as follows:    
    

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate          Effective rate          Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)       (per annum)       (Rupees)

6-Feb-17       6-Feb-20           Upon maturity      11.2% 10.14%           10,000,000 

8.5    Details of investment in TDR are as follows:    
    

Purchase Date          Maturity Date          Payment terms          Profit rate          Effective rate          Cost 
                                                                                                                       (per annum)       (per annum)       (Rupees)

10-Oct-16       10-Oct-19            Upon maturity        12%  10.79%             10,000,000 

9      GRANT RECEIVABLE
   

Nationwide  
Microfinance 

 Credit 
 Information  

Bureau MF-CIB

Impact 
Assessment

 Study 
 (Note 9.1)

NFIS Technical  
Assistance  

for  
Sub-Committees

PMN  
Business 

Plan Funding

Financial 
Literacy

2017 2016

Balance as at January 1

Grants received during the year

Profit on bank placements 

 (29,001,798)

 -   

 -   

 (29,001,798)

 (3,316,588)

 -   

 1,690 

 (3,314,898)

 -   

 -   

 -   

 (11,268,203)

 142,468,824 

 448,666 

 131,649,287 

 (5,543,428)

 7,785,115 

 102,885 

 2,344,572 

 (49,130,017)

 150,253,939 

 553,241 

 101,677,163 

 (50,021,027)

 88,505,737 

 310,596 

 38,795,306 

Note

State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)  
  

DFID IFC TOTAL 

Expenditure:

Governance and management

Capacity building

Enabling environment

Information hub

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 (202,495)

 (202,495)

 -   

 (554,051)

 (1,601,877)

 -   

 (2,155,928)

 (33,645,261)

 (9,190,818)

 (67,798,436)

 (54,209,535)

 (164,844,050)

 -   

 -   

 (2,134,630)

 -   

 (2,134,630)

 (33,645,261)

 (9,744,869)

 (71,534,943)

 (54,412,030)

 (169,337,103)

 (19,550,001)

 (6,311,538)

 (38,524,025)

 (24,074,771)

 (88,460,335)

26

27

28

29

Others:

Capital expenditure

Grant receivable written-off (Note 9.2)

Balance as at December 31

- grant receivable

 -   

 15,302,047 

(13,699,751)

 -   

 -   

 (3,517,393)

 -   

 -   

 (2,155,928)

 ( (3,106,234)

 -   

 (36,300,997)

 (209,942)

 -   

 -   

  (3,316,176)

 15,302,047 

 (55,674,069)

  (237,120)

 772,132 

 (49,130,017)

9.1  Under the project, two rounds of the impact assessment survey were completed in previous years.  
        For the third round of survey, the Company has submitted the funding proposal to the other donors. As  
       per correspondence between the Company and SBP, the final tranche will be released to the Company  
          once the decision for the third round has been communicated to SBP.      

9.2   During the current year, grant receivable from SBP amounting to Rs. 15,302,047 was written off owing  
     to the fact that SBP disallowed the expenditure on the grounds that the said amount will now be  
          contributed through Company’s own / other sources.        
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       2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Considered good - unsecured   

“MicroWatch Online Software” - GHAMFIN 

“Universal Standards for Social Performance Management” -  

 Fundacja Microfinance Centre”    

 PMR Online - Afghanistan Microfinance Association

“Women’s Financial Inclusion” - World Bank   

“Financial Literacy” - Levi Strauss Foundation 

”Understanding the efficiency of a credit bureau through a 

 cluster randomized controlled trial: A Baseline Study” - 

 International Growth Centre (IGC)     

 

 2,776,250 

 -   

 -   

 2,743,711 

 -   

 -   

 

5,519,961 

10       CONSULTANCY FEES RECEIVABLE  

 2,665,836  

1,082,000  

1,698,400  

4,811,935  

3,841,100  

1,974,669  

 16,073,940  

10.1      This represents amounts receivable against consultancy services rendered by the Company which  
             include research studies, reports publication, provision of information to the microfinance sector, on  
             behalf of various international  

      2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Loans  

 Considered good  

 Current portion of long-term loan  

 Advances  

 Considered good  

 to employees  

 to vendors  

 to consultants  

      

       

    

 589,839 

 

 651,606 

 231,611 

 3,861,297 

 5,334,353 

11        LOANS AND ADVANCES  
  

  372,436 

 

 

186,216 

 231,661 

 3,318,481 

 4,108,794 

 11.1      Loans and advances, except for the current portion of the long-term loan, are interest free, and are due  
             on demand.          

         

7

 

 

11.1 

         2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Deposits  

 Short-term prepayments  

 Rent  

 Employees’ benefits  

 Others  

  

 330,160 

 525,549 

 4,812,985 

 182,860 

 5,521,394 

 5,851,554 

 

12       DEPOSITS AND SHORT-TERM PREPAYMENTS   
 

   330,160 

 477,772 

 2,088,865 

 302,860 

 2,869,497 

 3,199,657 

 
12.1      This includes an amount of Rs. 289,560, as a security deposit against office premises.    

      

12.1

 

 

 

10.2 & 26

10.2      Receivable from Afghanistan Microfinance Association amounting to Rs. 1,698,400 was written off  
             during the current year owing to its non-recoverability.       
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          2017                  2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Gross interest accrued    

                 Provision against interest accrued   

 

13.1        Movement of provision against accrued interest  

 Balance as at January 01    

                 Provision against accrued interest    

                 Accrued interest written-off   

 

 171,312 

 -   

 171,312 

105,856 

 -   

 (105,856)

 -   

13    INTEREST ACCRUED
    

 1,177,824 

 (105,856)

 1,071,968 

105,856 

 -   

 -   

 105,856 

13.1

 

 

         2017                  2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

  Considered good:    

  Membership fees    

  Training fees    

 “Pakistan Microfinance Payment Initiative - RFP  

                  Access and Proposal fees”    

  South Asian Microfinance Network membership fees 

  Receivable from South Asian Microfinance Network  

  Sponsorship fees    

  Salary survey fee    

  Social audit fee    

  Investor linkages fee    

  Others    

     

  Considered doubtful:    

  Receivable from South Asian Microfinance Network  

  Others    

 

                 

                  Less: Provision against doubtful debts   

 

 2,730,000 

 5,882,156 

 -   

 143,625 

 -   

 13,942,536 

 1,115,000 

 2,551,891 

 1,032,875 

 2,845,423 

 30,243,506 

 8,149,218 

 1,659,616 

 9,808,834 

 

(9,808,834)

 30,243,506 

14    OTHER RECEIVABLES  

 1,320,000 

 754,105 

 1,500,000 

 399,025 

 2,089,269 

 3,000,000 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 3,737,036 

 12,799,435 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

-   

 12,799,435 

14.1

14.2

14.3

14.4

14.1     This represents sponsorship fee receivable against various events and conferences as described in note 24.  
         This includes an amount of Rs. 8,000,000 (2016: Rs. 3,000,000) receivable from Empowerment Through  
             Creative Integration (Private) Limited (ECI).         
 
14.2   This includes an amount of Rs. 541,003 (2016: Rs. 769,396) receivable from Data Check (Private) Limited  
         against member’s enquiries. It also includes an amount of Rs. 1,075,311 (2016: Rs. 714,461) against tax  
            deducted from PMN.          
           
14.3    This represents the expenses incurred for South Asian Microfinance Network operations by PMN.  
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         2017               2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Balance as at January 01  

                 Provision for doubtful debts  

                 Written-off during the year  

   

  

      

       

  -   

 9,808,834 

 -   

 9,808,834 

 

14.4  MOVEMENT OF PROVISION FOR DOUBTFUL DEBTS  
    

-   

 -   

 -   

-

 

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Held to maturity:  

                 Investments in related parties  

                 Term Deposit Receipts  

                 Current portion of long-term investments   

  

   20,000,000 

 -   

 20,000,000 

 

15     SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS  
  

 20,000,000 

 25,377,171 

 45,377,171 

 

15.1
8

15.1    Details of investments in TDRs in related party organizations are:     
 

         2017               2016
                                                                            
RUPEES

                 Microfinance banks

  

                 NRSP Microfinance Bank Limited  

                 Khushhali Bank Limited  

                 U Microfinance Bank Limited   

  

   

  

  20,000,000 

 -   

 -   

 20,000,000 

 

 -   

 10,000,000 

 10,000,000 

 20,000,000 

 

                                                                            
MATURITY 

       DATE 
 

                                                                                
    MARK-UP  
(PER ANNUM) 

24-Nov-18 

27-Oct-17 

30-Mar-17 

 

 8.10%

10.00%

11.75%

 

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

 Cash at banks in local currency  

                 Savings accounts   

   

  

      

    14,026,360 

 

 

16     CASH AND BANK BALANCES  
  

   40,549,543 

 

 

16.1

16.1    Savings accounts carry mark-up at rates ranging between 4% to 5% (2016: 5% to 6%), per annum. 
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         2017                  2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

  Balance as at January 01   

                  Income earned thereon during the year   

                  Expenses allocated to endowment fund payable  

 

                  Transfer to Endowment Fund   

 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

17     ENDOWMENT FUND PAYABLE  
  

 65,735,375 

 4,886,035 

 (135,682)

 70,485,728 

 (70,485,728)

 -   

17.1

This endowment, amounting to Rs 60 million, was received during the year ended December 31, 2013 from 
the Pakistan Poverty Alleviation Fund (PPAF), under a Financing Agreement, dated September 2013. The 
endowment remained restricted for a period of three years, commencing September 01, 2013, during which 
period, PPAF reserved the right to suspend or terminate the PMN’s right to this endowment and the income 
thereon, under specified circumstances. 

The restriction period of three years, as mentioned above, expired on August 31, 2016 and the Company 
transferred the endowment fund payable amount to Endowment Fund Reserve account, being fully compli-
ant with the conditions mentioned in the agreement. PPAF confirmed the transfer of control over the fund 
on December 26, 2017.

         2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

  Capital grants  

                   

  

 

  

 3,097,662 

18     DEFERRED GRANTS  
  

 

 874,344 18.1

18.1  CAPITAL GRANTS  
  

 Balance as at January 01

 Grants received during the year for:       

                 Property and equipment      

 Transfers to the income and expenditure statement      

                 Amortization for the year                       

                 WDV of property and equipment disposed off during the year  

    

 874,344 

3,316,176 

(1,085,796)

 (7,062)

 (1,092,858)

3,097,662 

 

1,431,322 

237,120 

(766,012)

 (28,086)

 (794,098)

874,344 

 18.1.1    These represent the written down value of property and equipment and intangible assets acquired    
                by the Company, from grants received from various donors.      
    
          
          

17.1
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         2017                  2016

         2017                 2016

         2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

  Accrued expenses  

                  Accounts payable  

                  Income tax withheld  

                  Provident fund payable  

                  Other liabilities  

  

 2,985,181 

 11,159,746 

 1,838,451 

 887,220 

 1,927,480 

 18,798,078 

19    ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES   
  

  842,985 

 9,220,340 

 1,071,940 

 31,000 

 49,758 

 11,216,023 

20    CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS   
   There were no contingencies and commitments as at the end of the current and prior years.   

       

         2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

  Restricted grants   

                  State Bank of Pakistan (SBP)   

                - Nationwide Microfinance Credit    

                - Impact Assessment Study   

                - NFIS Technical Assistance for Sub-committees    

  Department for International Development (DFID)  

                - PMN Business Plan Funding   

                  International Finance Corporation (IFC)    

                - Financial Literacy   

 

                  Capital grants    

                  Amortization of deferred grant    

  

 

 202,495 

 2,155,928 

 164,844,050 

 2,134,630 

 169,337,103 

 1,092,858 

 170,429,961 

21    GRANT INCOME 
   

  30,795,479 

 5,564,903 

 -   

 44,512,779 

 7,587,174 

 88,460,335 

 794,098 

 89,254,433 

21.1

21.2

21.3

21.4

18.1

       -

This grant, received from the Department for International Development (DFID), through SBP, under the 
agreement “Impact Assessment Study”, is for an aggregate amount of Rs. 23,573,900 for a period of three 
years, from April 2014 to March 2017. The main objective of the grant is to assess, with statistical reliability, 
the impact of access to microfinance services on individuals, households and enterprises in terms of 
economic and social vulnerability and risk characteristics, and to determine the factors related to the design 
and implementation of microfinance services that drive any positive and negative impacts.   

      

21.1   

The State Bank of Pakistan (SBP), on behalf of DFID, awarded the Company a grant of PKR 30 million on a 
draw-down funds basis under the Financial Inclusion Programme - Technical Assistance Component. The 
objective of the grant is to provide technical assistance to National Financial Inclusion Strategy (NFIS) 
Technical Committees, to enhance formal financial access to the adult population of Pakistan. The term of 
the project is one year, from August 01, 2017 to July 30, 2018.

21.2   
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         2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

   Boulder microfinance training    

                   Social performance task force meetings   

                   Local Trainings   

                 - Digitizing microfinance industry   

                 - Microfinance risk management   

                 - Finance for non-finance managers   

                   Grievance redressal mechanism training   

                   Harvard training course   

   

 1,271,381 

 1,013,926 

 2,518,750 

 -   

 595,000 

 2,898,147 

 1,626,148 

 9,923,352 

22    MEMBERS’ CONTRIBUTION - TRAININGS   
 

 3,536,737 

 239,228 

 298,500 

 495,000 

 -   

 1,221,299 

 5,790,764 22.1

22.1  This represents training fees earned on account of arranging trainings for staff of various member  
           organizations.          
          
          
                   2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES ”Understanding the efficiency of a Credit bureau through a  

  cluster randomized controlled trial: A baseline study” - 

  International Growth Centre”      

”G2P as an on-ramp to financial inclusion”” - Microfinance 

  Opportunities”      

“MicroView Updation” - Afghanistan Microfinance Association  

”Universal Standards for Social Performance Management” -   

  Fundacja Microfinance Centre      

“Women’s Financial Inclusion” - World Bank     

”New programs feasibility study – traditional finance service 

 providers” - Boulder Institute      

“Grid Impact Project” - Grid Impact      

“Financial Literacy” - Levi Strauss Foundation    

  

-

-   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

23    CONSULTANCY INCOME  
   

 4,013,037 

 1,226,512 

 669,384 

 1,082,000 

 5,323,370 

 1,031,048 

 1,007,924 

 7,511,728 

 21,865,003 

24   INCOME FROM SPONSORSHIPS  
        This represents the income received as sponsorships from various donors, organizations and members on   
        account of various conferences on Microfinance Innovation and Growth conducted by the Company.  
        
          

This grant from DFID under the “Business Plan Funding” agreement is for an aggregate amount of GBP 2.7 
million. The grant period is August 01, 2016 to September 30, 2019. The grant aims to fund the activities 
under the PMN Business Plan in areas of research, knowledge management, digital payment ecosystem, 
client protection and centre of excellence.

21.3   

This grant from the International Finance Corporation (IFC), under an agreement for “Financial Literacy” 
trainings, is for an aggregate amount of USD 150,000, for the period from April 2015 to March 2017. A no-
cost extension was approved by IFC and the project was extended upto December 31, 2017.   

       

          

          

          

21.4  
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         2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

         2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES 

      2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEESIncome from financial assets     

Profit on savings accounts     

Interest income on loans to employees    

Interest income on held-to-maturity investments   

Gain on sale of available-for-sale investments   

Gain on sale of held-to-maturity investments   

  

Income from related parties     

Interest income earned on TDRs with associated companies 

Salary survey contributions from members    

Social audits     

Investor linkage     

     

Income from non-financial assets     

Income on enquiries from DataCheck    

Pakistan Microfinance Payment Initiative - RFP    

access and proposal fee     

Liabilities written-back     

Gain on disposal of fixed assets     

Others     

 288,126 

 48,567 

 540,486 

 -   

 -   

 877,179 

7,774,809 

 2,060,000 

 2,551,891 

 1,829,750 

 14,216,450 

 2,271,607 

 220,544 

 36,517 

 139,938 

 55,000 

 2,723,606 

 17,817,235 

25    OTHER INCOME 
   

 234,766 

 30,094 

 447,490 

 158,307 

 2,615,634 

 3,486,291 

 2,181,449 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 2,181,449 

 769,396 

 2,296,752 

 587,300 

 -   

 270,000 

 3,923,448 

 9,591,188 

        2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Salaries and benefits  

Events / conferences / meetings  

Rent and utilities  

Depreciation and amortization  

Legal and professional   

Travel  

External audit  

Internal audit and other certifications  

Grants receivable written off  

Office supplies  

Other receivable written off  

Consultancy receivable written off  

Designing and printing  

Office maintenance  

Insurance  

Entertainment  

Other expenses  

  

 17,467,520 

 2,159,408 

 5,794,234 

 2,569,444 

 500,445 

 719,783 

 447,670 

 1,370,762 

 15,302,047 

 1,252,763 

 3,124,576 

 1,698,400 

 437,076 

 2,204,192 

 84,374 

 297,457 

 55,227 

 

26    GOVERNANCE AND MANAGEMENT   
 

 12,766,310 

 3,208,322 

 5,050,779 

 1,992,375 

 1,498,711 

 1,251,133 

 483,960 

 819,450 

 636,485 

 630,247 

 -   

 408,171 

 296,139 

 223,719 

 208,586 

 153,892 

 74,227 

9

10.2
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Salaries and benefits  

Events / conferences / meetings  

Rent and utilities  

 

Bank charges   

Exchange loss   

Provision for doubtful debts   

Loss on disposal   

   

Allocated to consulting services  

Allocated to other operating expenses   

   

 57,961 

 97,891 

 9,808,834 

 -   

 65,450,064 

 -   

 (31,804,803)

33,645,261 

 12,766,310 

 3,208,322 

 5,050,779 

 

  50,044 

 30,030 

 -   

 25,486 

 29,808,067 

 (9,139,182)

 (1,118,884)   

 19,550,001 

 

Tuition and accommodation fee  

Per diem and other allowances  

Consultant cost  

Events / conferences / meetings  

Designing and printing  

Travel  

Salaries  

Other expenses 

Allocated to consulting services  

Allocated to other operating expenses   

   

 

 

  

 

 4,019,581 

 1,384,183 

 4,917,089 

 2,233,374 

 15,200 

 1,529,274 

 1,032,600 

 41,350 

 15,172,651 

 -   

 (5,427,782)

 9,744,869 

27    CAPACITY BUILDING  
   

 7,164,736 

 2,339,960 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 816,636 

 798,148 

 -   

 11,119,480 

 (4,807,942)

 -   

 6,311,538 

Consultant cost   

Salaries and benefits   

Travel   

Events / conferences / meetings   

Per diem and allowances   

Direct project costs   

Accommodation   

International memberships   

Designing and printing   

Other expenses   

   

Allocated to consulting services  

Allocated to other operating expenses   

   

  

 

 

  

 13,258,953 

 22,236,188 

 10,641,222 

 11,393,231 

 7,011,188 

 -   

 4,387,393 

 1,041,169 

 1,228,340 

 611,334 

 71,809,018 

 -   

 (274,075)

 71,534,943 

28     ENABLING ENVIRONMENT  
  

 12,729,981 

 12,252,494 

 7,900,631 

 6,157,820 

 4,713,815 

 3,735,516 

 2,500,762 

 970,339 

 176,000 

 -   

 51,137,358 

 (12,613,333)

 -   

 38,524,025 

14.4

30

31

30

31

30

31
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        2017                   2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Salaries and benefits   

Consultant cost   

Travel   

Accommodation   

Events / conferences / meetings   

Designing and printing   

Per diem and allowances   

Other expenses   

   

Allocated to consulting services  

Allocated to other operating expenses   

 20,719,653 

 15,663,696 

 4,243,345 

 2,663,778 

 3,637,963 

 2,446,106 

 4,519,077 

 664,120 

 54,557,738 

 -   

 (145,708)

 54,412,030 

29    INFORMATION HUB  
  

 15,072,869 

 11,655,923 

 3,073,519 

 2,896,503 

 1,503,293 

 719,750 

 547,329 

 318,599 

 35,787,785 

 (11,713,014)

 -   

 24,074,771 

Governance and management   

Capacity building   

Enabling environment   

Information hub   

   

   

   

  

 

 -

-

-

-

-

30    CONSULTING SERVICES  
   

  9,139,182 

 4,807,942 

 12,613,333 

 11,713,014 

 38,273,471 

30.1

30.2

Depreciation and amortization  

Exchange loss  

Bank charges  

Loss on disposal of fixed assets  

   

   

  

 

 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

30.1  THIS INCLUDES: 
   

   1,992,375 

 27,833 

 50,009 

 25,486 

 2,095,703 

30.2    During the current year, no consultancy services were rendered (refer to note 23) and accordingly, no  
            allocation from general and administrative expenses have been made to the consulting services.  
        

         2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Receivables written-off  

Provision for doubtful debts  

International trainings  

Events / conferences / meetings  

Depreciation and amortization  

Exchange loss  

Bank charges  

 20,125,023 

 9,808,834 

 5,427,782 

 419,783 

 1,741,480 

 97,891 

 31,575 

 37,652,368 

31    OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES  
  

 1,118,884 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 1,118,884 

30

31

31.1 & 26

31.2 & 26

31.3

31.4
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31.1   This includes write-offs of long outstanding receivables, membership fees and consultancy fees amounting  
       to Rs. 1,743,426, Rs. 1,280,810 and 1,698,400, respectively. It also includes a write-off of Rs. 15,302,047  
        against the Nationwide Microfinance Credit Information Bureau grant, receivable from the State Bank of  
           Pakistan.          

32       REMUNERATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND OTHER EXECUTIVES     
              The aggregate amounts charged in the financial statements for remuneration, including benefits, to the    
           Chief Executive Officer and other executives are as follows:       
 

Managerial remuneration  

Bonus for the year  

Provident fund  

Contribution in respect of gratuity  

Other benefits  

  

  

Number of person(s)  

         2017               2016

 8,242,560 

1,908,000 

549,054 

200,000 

2,190,765 

13,090,379

7,632,000

1,800,000

508,800

200,000

409,946

10,550,746

 

 

         2017               2016

 36,784,158 

 4,355,217 

 1,578,370 

 2,207,917 

 3,439,919 

 48,365,581 

 20,641,121 

 4,201,642 

 970,925 

 1,946,875 

 1,853,939 

 29,614,502 

      1                                 1                                               21                              17

Chief Executive Officer  Executives  
 

Rupees  Rupees  

No remuneration was paid to the company’s directors in the current and previous years.    
    

31.2   This includes a provision against the receivable from South Asian Microfinance Network amounting to Rs.  
           8,149,218 (refer to note 14.4).          
         

31.3   These represent the per diems, travelling, course fee and accommodation costs incurred in relation to the  
           international trainings of the PMN’s sponsored candidates of the member organisations.    

31.4   These represent the expenses allocated from governance and management, capacity building, enabling  
         environment and information hub amounting to Rs. 31,804,803 (2016: Rs. 1,118,884), Rs. 5,427,782 (2016:   
           nil), Rs. 274,075 (2016: nil) and 145,708 (2016: nil), respectively.       
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         2017               2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES

Training fee receivable  

Membership fee receivable  

Short-term investment  

Long-term investment  

Accrued investment income  

 5,882,156 

 2,730,000 

 20,000,000 

 79,019,446 

 171,312 

33.2  BALANCES AS AT THE YEAR END WITH MEMBER ORGANIZATIONS    

 754,105 

 1,320,000 

 20,000,000 

 32,771,205 

 1,071,968 

33       RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS   
                   The related parties of the Company comprise its directors, key management personnel and members of   
           the Company. Transactions and balances with related parties, except remuneration and benefits to key  
           management personnel, which are seperately disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, are as  
           follows:          
          

         2017                 2016

                                NOTE                                              RUPEES  Transactions with the Members     

  Income     

  Training fee income     

  Membership and registration fee income     

  Interest income earned on TDRs     

  Expenses     

  Expenses incurred on training     

  Transactions with the Staff retirement benefits plans   

  Payments     

  Provident fund contribution     

  Premium to EFU     

 9,923,352 

 8,850,000 

 7,774,809 

 14,140,051 

 4,548,179 

 4,924,500 

33.1   TRANSACTIONS DURING THE YEAR:  
  

 5,790,764 

 7,365,000 

 4,253,364 

 9,839,910 

 3,099,466 

 1,923,750 
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36     RE-ARRANGEMENTS AND RE-CLASSIFICATIONS   
           Corresponding figures have been re-classified, where necessary, for more appropriate presentation of  
         transactions and events for the purpose of comparison. A significant re-classification is as follows:  
                     From           To     Pak Rupees

   Consulting services                      Other operating expenses                1,118,884 

 

35     NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES  

         Number of employees of the Company at the reporting date 

         Average number of employees during the year   

  

2017

22

20

2016

17

17

Financial assets  

Long term investments  

Long term loans   

Loans and advances  

Grant receivable  

Consultancy fees receivable  

Other receivables  

Short term investments  

Cash and bank balances  

  

  

Financial liabilities  

Accrued and other liabilities 

 

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 -   

 

 79,019,446 

1,267,116 

 651,606 

 55,674,069 

 5,519,961 

 30,243,506 

 20,000,000 

 14,026,360 

 206,402,064 

15,812,897 

 15,812,897 

Rupees 

Total  
  

Fair value through 
                      profit or loss  

        2017            2016

Amortized cost 

Rupees Rupees 

 20,463,411 

865,305 

 186,216 

 49,130,017 

 16,073,940 

 12,799,435 

 45,377,171 

 40,549,543 

 185,445,038 

10,373,038 

 10,373,038 

 79,019,446 

 1,267,116 

 651,606 

 55,674,069 

 5,519,961 

 30,243,506 

 20,000,000 

 14,026,360 

 206,402,064 

15,812,897 

15,812,897 

 20,463,411 

 865,305 

 186,216 

 49,130,017 

 16,073,940 

 12,799,435 

 45,377,171 

 40,549,543 

 185,445,038 

10,373,038 

10,373,038 

        2017            2016        2017            2016

34     FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

37    DATE OF AUTHORIZATION  
         These financial statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors of the Company on       
       
        24th May 2018.            

38    GENERAL
         The amounts presented in these financial statements have been rounded-off to the nearest Pak Rupee,  
       unless otherwise stated.            
 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER DIRECTOR
Syed Mohsin Ahmed Syed Nadeem Hussain
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Total  
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